IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA FILED

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

SID J. WHITE

NOV 7 1995

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT By ______ Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 86-561

CYNTHIA L. POWELL,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY, #593280 /ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS, #325791 BUREAU CHIEF-CRIMINAL APPEALS

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, State of Florida, who was the prosecuting authority in the trial court and the appellant in the First District, will be referred to herein as "State." Appellee, Cynthia L. Powell, who was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the First District, will be referred to herein as respondent or by her last name.

The record on appeal, consisting of one volume of pleadings, etc. and three volumes of trial transcript, will be referred to by the symbols "R," and "T," respectively, followed by the appropriate page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In a three-count information Michael Cross was charged with armed sexual battery on L M ____, occurring on July 21, 1993, possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, and conspiracy to commit murder. This information also charged Cynthia Lynne Powell with conspiracy to commit murder. (R. 48) The third count read:

> And for the third count of this information, your informant further charges that MICHAEL LEE CROSS and CYNTHIA LYNNE POWELL on or between the 30th day of August, 1993, and the 9th day of September, 1993, in the County of Duval and the State of Florida, did agree, conspire, combine or confederate with each other to commit Murder, contrary to the provisions of Sections 782.04(1)(a) and 777.04(3), Florida Statutes.

(R. 48) An amended statement of particulars provided that the conspiracy took place between August 2, 1993 and September 9, 1993 in the vicinity of Jacksonville, Duval County, Florida. (R. 61) Michael Cross and Cynthia Powell were tried together on the conspiracy count.

The State presented the testimony of eleven witnesses: Chrystal Oplander (Cross' friend and owner of home in which Powell was a guest), Susie Lewis, records custodian for Southern Bell Telephone Company; Sgt. Sharon Freeland, records custodian for Pretrial Detention Facility of Jacksonville Sheriff's Office; Sgt. S. R. McCoy, communications coordinator for Pretrial Detention Facility; Misty Sullivan, next door neighbor and baby sitter for Chrystal Oplander; Forest Rothchild, friend of Oplander who met Powell at a party at Oplander's home; Charles Drew Freeman, friend of Oplander; T M , husband of alleged rape victim; Karen Renckley, deputy with Jacksonville Sheriff's Office; Joseph Collins, detective with Jacksonville Sheriff's Office; and Steven Shinholser, Sr., detective with Jacksonville Sheriff's Office.

Chrystal Oplander had known Michael Cross for approximately a year. (T. 39) He was primarily a friend, but for one month in 1993 (from June to end of July), they had a sexual relationship. (T. 39-40) It ended because Cross stopped calling. (T. 40) He made contact with Oplander again in August while he was incarcerated in the county jail. (T. 41) Oplander met Cynthia Powell through Cross. (T. 43-44) At Cross' request, Powell became a house guest in Oplander's home for one and one-half weeks. (T. 46) Powell was still a house guest at the time of her arrest on or about September 9, 1993. (T. 76, 127, 129, 248, 264-165, 281-282, 317)

Cross and Powell made several statements and committed several acts in the presence of Oplander, which the State relied on to prove the conspiracy. These are summarized in the following paragraphs.

Michael Cross' verbal acts.

1. Cross called from the county jail in August (T. 42) and late August (T. 43). After Powell arrived, he called collect "five, seven times a day." (T. 48-50)

2. Cross asked Oplander if a friend, Cynthia Powell, could stay at her house for a couple of days. (T. 43, 121)

- 3 -

3. Cross wrote Powell a letter and asked Oplander to give it to Powell. (T. 56)

4. When Cross called, "sometimes he would ask for Angel, which was Lynne." (T. 87)

Michael Cross' statements.

1. I am in jail because a girl has accused me of raping her. (T. 42)

2. If you want to know why Powell is coming to Jacksonville, you will have to ask her. (T. 43)

3. Powell is my girlfriend. (T. 49)

4. "If anybody asks, me and you (Oplander) have been seeing each other on and off for the past year, and that me and Lynne (Powell) was no longer together." (T. 49)

5. "From now on your name is Tina, Lynne's name is Angel, and my name is Chuck." (T. 53) The jail phone carries a warning that the conversation may be recorded. (T. 53)

6. I am writing Powell a letter, which will be addressed to you with Powell's name in parentheses. (T. 56)

7. If you come home from work one day and Powell is not there, don't be alarmed. That just means she has left. (T. 50)

Powell's physical and verbal acts.

1. While talking to Cross on the telephone, Powell took notes. (T. 51-52) She wore gloves. (T. 56) After talking to Cross, "she would ask [Oplander] out of the clear blew sky questions," and "she would have to go to the store to get stuff" (T. 47, 52, 118), including a razor blade, gloves, camouflage paint for hunting, pills, baby bottle nipples (T. 62, 67-69, 98). During the last three to five days of her visit, this happened just about every time Cross called her. (T. 52)

2. Powell carried a backpack full of items, including handcuffs, switchblade, a chain from Oplander's yard, and pills from Oplander's house. (T. 65, 69-70) Powell stored some of her belongings in a plastic bag, which included envelopes and note paper belonging to Oplander and on which Powell had wiped off all fingerprints. (T. 71-73, 128-129)

3. Powell discussed with Cross on the telephone a suicide

note. (T. 51)

4. Powell called the apartment complex of the alleged rape victim trying to find out her last name. (T. 74)

5. Powell read the letter she received from Cross and took notes. (T. 57) She then walked outside with the letter. (T. 57)

6. Powell asked to borrow Oplander's truck (T. 58) and Forest's car (T. 61). Powell went out one night to steal a car but came back empty handed. (T. 89-90, 102)

7. Powell asked Oplander to get her a gun. (T. 58) She also asked Drew Freeman to get her a gun, initially for protection. (T. 59) She gave Freeman money to purchase a gun. (T. 60) Powell asked Oplander if Powell's cap gun looked real, if it would look anymore real if covered with a towel, and if it would scare Oplander if covered with a towel. (T. 64) She asked Oplander if someone held a gun to your head, would you be scared and would you do what the person requested? (T. 133)

8. Powell asked Oplander if Powell's knife she carried which belonged to Cross would scare someone. (T. 65)

9. Powell asked Oplander, "If you had people cut their wrists, you know, if they commit suicide by cutting their wrists, if you cut it this way or this way, which one would be better or faster, or would do it?" (T. 134); "Do you cut your arm straight across or up your arm?" (T. 98)

Powell's statements.

1. I live in Tennessee with my father. I have made two trips to Jacksonville. The first time I stole my father's car and drove to Jacksonville, and the second time I hitchhiked. (T. 45, 75)

2. Powell's statement made to Oplander when they first met: I came to Jacksonville to kill the girl that put Cross in jail. (T. 46, 84) I am joking; I came here to see a friend. (T. 46, 84) Powell's statement made sometime later: The purpose of my first trip was to kill the girl who put Cross in jail, but I got scared when her husband answered the door. I asked for someone else and then walked away. (T. 75-76) Powell's statement made two day's before her arrest and after she had obtained razor blades and gloves and wiped fingerprints off stationery: I am going to L M 's house and kill her. (T. 104, 124)

- 5 -

3. Cross is my boyfriend. (T. 49)

4. The handcuffs in my backpack are for "the girl that put Michael in jail" or for her husband if he shows up. (T. 65-66, 98, 142-43)

5. The purpose of the face paint is to prevent anyone from seeing me. (T. 67)

6. In the event I get a gun, I will use the baby bottle nipples as a silencer on the gun. (T. 68-69)

7. The purpose of the gloves is to eliminate my fingerprints. (T. 69)

8. The envelopes and note paper without fingerprints are to be used by me to write Cross and by the girl who put Cross in jail to write a suicide note. (T. 72-73)

9. After she writes the suicide note, I can make her take the pills, shoot her, or use a razor blade. (T. 97-98)

10. "As far as they know, this guy tried to rape me, but actually I tried to get his car." (T. 76-77) This statement was made on September 9th, the same evening that Detective Shinholser called Oplander. (T. 76, 127)

Oplander was not scared of Powell. (T. 98, 132-133) At first Oplander did not take Powell's threats seriously, but later she did. (T. 84, 121) On September 7th, her "threat was more serious because the week before she was doing all these things, she was getting razor blades, she was getting gloves, she was writing letters that would have no fingerprints." (T. 124) On the date that Drew Freeman dropped Powell off on 103rd Street, Oplander did not think Powell would follow through with her plan to kill L M because Powell "was nervous and clammy, and she had too many questions and things." (T. 104)

Cross did not admit that he was involved in the conspiracy when Oplander, wearing a wire, went to the jail to see him after Powell had been arrested. (T. 109, 136) Neither did he admit being involved in the conspiracy during recorded conversations with Oplander. Cross "didn't really say he did, he didn't really say he didn't, he just didn't say anything, he changed the subject." (T. 110) Cross denied knowing anything about a gun and told her to tell the truth. (T. 140-141)

The testimony of the other witnesses for the State are summarized in the following paragraphs.

On August 2, 1993, Michael Cross was assigned to Cell 3E, 4A, Room 74, and on August 6th, he was moved to 5 West, 4-76, Room 76, of the Jacksonville County jail, where he remained until September 22nd. (T. 156) Collect telephone numbers 356-5500, 356-5047, 356-5223, and 356-5504 were assigned to 5 West, 4, and 356-4027 was one of the telephone numbers assigned to 3 East, 4A. (T. 159-160)

Misty Sullivan saw Powell take letters out of her book bag and on one occasion saw her burning a letter outside Oplander's mobile home. (T. 166-167, 177) Misty saw that one of the letters "said something about something to do with a lady named L ____," and also "there was something about getting money from an apartment" in the letter. (T. 167. 170, 176) Misty asked Powell why she was burning a letter, and Powell responded, "Evidence." (T. 168)

At a party at Oplander's home, Powell informed Forest Rothchild that she was in need of a vehicle because of something involving "a weapon (a gun) and her possibly being a getaway

- 7 -

driver." (T. 181-182) She first asked Rothchild if a friend of his could loan her a car and then she asked Rothchild himself to loan her a car. (T. 182) She explained that she would return the vehicle to a location easy to find, but that he probably would never see her again. (T. 182) Later during the week when Rothchild called Oplander's home, Powell continued with her request to borrow his car. (T. 183) Rothchild did not loan Powell a car. (T. 183)

Oplander and Powell visited Charles Drew Freeman in his home in August 1993. (T. 189) Powell wanted to purchase a .22 caliber firearm on which she could use a baby's nipple as a silencer. (T. Thereafter, Powell gave Freeman \$60 to purchase the 191) firearm, \$40 of which was returned to Powell two days later. (T. 199, 210) During the next two weeks, he talked to Powell by telephone every day, sometimes three times a day. She wanted to know if Freeman had obtained a gun for her. (T. 193) Freeman saw Powell approximately fourteen times at Oplander's home. Powell wanted to know when Freeman would be able to get the gun for her. (T. 193-194) Powell explained that she needed a gun to force a woman to write three letters stating that she had falsely accused Mike of rape and could no longer live with herself. (T. 195-197) She further explained that if the lady refused, she was going to go ahead and "off" her. (T. 197) During the two week period, Powell mentioned "offing" the lady approximately six times. (T. 204) Powell "had indicated that somebody had asked her to do it." (T. 197) Freeman was "sure that she had mentioned about her

- 8 -

boyfriend, doing it for her boyfriend, or a friend," whom she loved, but he was uncertain whether she actually mentioned her friend's name. (T. 197-198, 221, 223) Freeman decided not to get her the gun. (T. 195, 199)

While at Oplander's home, Freeman overheard Powell say to Cross on the telephone that "she didn't know when she was going to be able to do it," and on another occasion that "she had to do it soon, because she had to be back up north." (T. 199)

On September 7, 1993, Freeman gave Powell a ride to 103rd Street and dropped her off at a Lil' Champ store. (T. 199-203) Powell explained that she intended to try to find the lady and do what needed to be done so that she could get back up north. (T. 203-204) She had her backpack with her, which contained a knife with spikes on the handle, handcuffs, box of envelopes, paper, pens, and clothes. (T. 205) As she wiped the knife off with a rag, she stated she was going to threaten the lady with it and kill her with it if she refused to do as she was told. (T. 205) Freeman saw Powell the next night, and Powell stated that the lady had moved. (T. 206) She again asked about getting a gun and stated that she intended to try to find the lady. (T. 206) Freeman believed that Powell was sincere but lacked the courage to go through with the killing. (T. 213, 218-219, 224) She was too nervous. (T. 213)

T⁴ and L M. lived in Apt. No. , Apartments, Jacksonville in July 1993 until September 4, 1994. (T. 230, 237) They did not have a telephone. (T. 230) On July

- 9 -

22nd, T reported a crime against his wife to the police, and the case was assigned to Detective Shinholser. (T. 232)

On or about August 25th, Powell, whom he did not know, came to his door and told him that her father, a Navy man, was looking for him and had sent her to his house to see if he was home. (T. 232-234) When she left, Powell backed out of the driveway in an awkward manner, as if to conceal the license tag, which was either an Alabama or Tennessee tag. (T. 235)

About the second week of September, T received two strange phone calls at his command post. (T. 235) The caller at one time represented that she was with 1-800-Flowers and needed to confirm his address to deliver some flowers. (T. 236) The caller gave a false telephone number, and no flowers were delivered. (T. 236) The caller on another occasion left a bogus message about a bank loan with T 's landlord. She used the same telephone number as did the first caller. (T. 237, 239, 246) T took these messages to Detective Shinholser. (T. 237) The telephone number left by the caller was Oplander's number. (T. 240, 329, 340)

On September 9, 1993, Karen Renckley was called to the scene of a reported attempted carjacking. (T. 248) When she arrived, she observed Cornelius Taylor with blood all over his white dress Navy uniform and a bandage around his head. (T. 248) She also observed the car and a backpack belonging to the person who had injured Taylor. (T. 248, 250) Taylor was taken to the hospital for the wound to be sewed up, and then he was taken to the police station to be interviewed. (T. 250)

- 10 -

On September 9, 1993, Deputy Collins was advised of a possible kidnapping and attempted sexual battery. (T. 264-265) Powell, the alleged victim, was transported to the police station. (T. 264) She reported that a man abducted her, took her to a wooded area, and told her to remove her clothes. (T. 266) She hit him in the head with a hammer. (T. 266) While telling this story, Powell was calm. At one point, she stated that all she wanted was her bag, not to prosecute. (T. 267-268) She explained that all the items in her bag were for her protection. (T. 268) Taylor was then interviewed, following which Powell was interviewed again. (T. 269) She recanted the kidnapping story. (T. 260-270) No one was arrested. (T. 270, 278) Taylor agreed to take a polygraph test but never showed up. (T. 272-273) The police knew where Taylor lived and worked. (T. 277) Due to discrepancies in both parties' stories, the sexual battery case was not pursued. (T. 274) As standard procedure, the case was turned over to the State Attorney, but it was not prosecuted. (T. 275 - 276)

Detective Shinholser was the lead detective in the sexual battery case against Michael Cross. (T. 279) L M filed the complaint on July 22, 1993. and Cross was arrested in August. (T. 280) Thereafter, T M became concerned for his wife's safety and began communicating with Shinholser. (T. 281) On September 9th, he came to the police station with a telephone number (786-5107) of a person trying to locate his wife. (T. 281-282) The phone number was listed to a Ruth Osborne on Hyde Park

- 11 -

or Grove. (T. 282) Shinholser, in T is presence, called the number. (T. 282) It turned out to be Chrystal Oplander's telephone number. (T. 329, 340) As a result of that telephone call, he communicated with Oplander on several occasions on that date, both on the telephone and at the sheriff's office. (T. 283-286) At this same time, Powell was in the sheriff's office being interviewed because of the Taylor incident. (T. 284) She told Shinholser her address was 7710 East Brainered Road, No. 701, Chattanooga, Tennessee, which is the same address as is listed on State's Exhibit No. 3. (T. 292-293) Shinholser inventoried Powell's backpack, which contained handcuffs, link chain, toy gun wrapped in a washcloth, plastic baggie containing assorted pills, two small containers of pills, knife with spikes, switch blade, notes, three pacifiers, camouflage paint, and other items. (T. 293-294) Powell's personal effects brought to the sheriff's office by Oplander included notes, thee envelopes with stamps on them and blank paper inside, another envelope with some notes and a letter, and a piece of legal paid inside an address book. (T. 294-295) Powell admitted writing the notes (T. 316), some of which were described by co-defendant's counsel outside the jury's presence as "suicide letters that she was going to force L' to write." (T. 310) Shinholser arrested Powell and Cross М for conspiracy to commit murder. (T. 317)

The notes written by Powell provided:

M , I'm very sorry for this, I don't mean to hurt you or my family, it's best this way. I made everything up about Michael, he never

- 12 -

raped me, he never intimidated me, I can't go on lying to you about him. I wanted him because you were never around, alone. I can't keep lying, I love you, M. . I'm sorry. Love, Me. (T. 317)

State Attorney's Office. I'm writing in regards to Michael Cross. First of all I want to clear his name. I've lied about everything. I made everything up about the rape, the gun, everything. I wanted him. I lied in fear of losing my husband. I didn't mean to hurt anybody. I can't keep lying about something that never happened. I'm sorry for the trouble I've caused. Please drop all the charges, he's innocent. Your name.

It's better this way. (T. 317-318)

Parents. I'm writing in regards to Michael Cross. First of all I want to clear his name, he never raped me, there was never a gun, and I was never scared of him or for my life. I'm sorry I lied and have caused so much trouble, I was afraid of losing my husband. Please drop all of the charges, he's innocent. Thank you. For your family, your son.

Mike, I'm sorry for lying to you, I didn't want you to leave me. You were never around, and I needed someone around. I lied about Michael Cross, he never raped me or intimidated me with a gun. There wasn't a gun, and I wasn't raped. I'm sorry. I love you. (T. 318)

[The next note is a list of items with check marks beside them.] I got pills - all, gloves (2), letters, flashlight, face paint, handcuffs. (T. 318-319) [The word "gun" is then underlined three times.] (T. 319)

On attorneys' letter put Mike's jail number. Go in. Lock door behind me. Put gloves on. Get her at gunpoint. Take her to bedroom. Get her to write letters. Address envelopes, one to Mike, one to Mike's parents. Tell her if she writes notes she will live. Make her get glass of water and take all pills. Make her touch pill bottles. Cut her wrist. Put her hand on the razor. Jail number 9932542P-2. (T. 319)

Take a deep breath. Make sure she's dead. Change gloves. Open the door. Take breath. Look everything over. Don't touch. Make sure she's dead. Leave. Looks like Witacker.(T. 319)

630-2400. (T. 319)
State Attorney's Office, 330 East Bay Street,
Jacksonville, Florida, 32202.
2810 Green Ridge Road, OP, Florida, 32073.
(T. 319-320)

The telephone records reflected that the following number of collect calls were made from a Jacksonville telephone number to the telephone located in the residence of Chrystal Oplander: 1 call for the billing date of July 14, 1993; 12 calls for the billing date of August 14, 1993; three full pages of calls for the billing date of September 14, 1993 (between August 15th and September 14th); and 3 for the billing date of October 14, 1993. (T. 151-152)

The State admitted twelve exhibits: jail telephone records, Oplander's telephone bills, Powell's telephone bills, photograph of injury sustained by Mr. Taylor, Powell's notes, stamped envelopes, blank paper, a letter, piece of a legal pad, and purple backpack and its contents previously described (T. 162, 163, 268-269, 294-299, 301)

EVIDENCE FOR THE DEFENSE

Cross did not present any witnesses. (T. 399) Powell presented two witnesses: Christine Mishoe and Reverend Norman Gardner. Christine Mishoe, who was fourteen years old and Oplander's next door neighbor, testified to the following facts: She resided with both her parents who were divorced, but mostly with her father who lived next door to Oplander. (T. 366) She was in the eighth grade and attended the Madiview Road Alternative for Education Center. (T. 366)

She met Oplander a year ago and babysat for her, usually in the afternoon when she went to work. (T. 367, 373) Oplander was like a big sister to her. (T. 380) Sometimes Mishoe would spend the night at Oplander's trailer. (T. 373, 381) Mishoe met Powell at Oplander's home. (T. 368) Mishoe was there, usually babysitting, almost every night during the time period when Powell was a house guest (T. 373-374, 381, 382), but Misty babysat some of the nights (T. 388). When Mishoe babysat, Oplander was at work. (T. 388) Sometimes Oplander would go to work at 4:00 p.m. and come home at midnight or five a.m. (T. 381) Mishoe was uncertain as to exactly what times of the day she was present at Oplander's home because Oplander's work schedule changed. (T. 385) When Powell arrived, Oplander went to work at 4:00 p.m., and three to four days later, her schedule was changed. (T. 387) After Powell was arrested, Mishoe did not stay at Oplander's home much. (T. 379) Oplander was dating a man named Whit when Powell was a house quest, and she is still dating this man. (T. 386-387)

Powell went out almost every night she was there. (T. 371, 382-383) Mishoe did not know where she went, but on one

- 15 -

occasion, Powell said that "she went to walk the interstate." (T. 371, 382) Sometimes Powell came back at night and sometimes the next morning. (T. 372-374) "She came back almost every night with money." (T. 372, 383) She would come back with at least \$100, and by the end of the week, she had \$300 to \$400, assuming she saved it all. (T. 372)

Before Powell arrived, Cross called "maybe two or three times a week." (T. 370) Sometimes he would call twice a day, and sometimes he would wake Oplander up to go to work. (T. 380) After Powell arrived, Cross called "almost every day." (T. 370-371) He called more than five times. (T. 383) Sometimes Mishoe answered the phone, and once Powell may have answered the phone. (T. 371) Oplander never told Mishoe that Powell was not to answer the phone. (T. 371) When Cross called, he did not ask to speak to Cynthia or Chrystal but used some other name. (T. 374, 386) He did not identify himself as Mike but used a weird name. (T. 385-386) Cross did not use the real names so that "people wouldn't find out that they was talking to each other." (T. 386) Mishoe never asked Cross why he was using different names. (T. 387) Powell would speak to him first. (T. 374) Mishoe never overheard any conversations between Powell and Cross, and neither did she ever hear any words mentioned like murder, suicide, or conspiracy. (T. 375, 384)

Mishoe read part of a letter Cross wrote to Powell but never finished it. (T. 375, 384) She read nothing about murder, conspiracy, or suicide. (T. 375) Mishoe saw Powell "burn a wad

- 16 -

of letters one time," and a "paper the other time." (T. 377) She only saw one letter from Cross, but there were other letters that Powell was burning as well. (T. 379) When Powell was burning the letter from Michael, she stated, "I'm burning letters of evidence." (T. 386)

Powell had a backpack in which she kept "personal stuff," such as a notepad, lipstick, and Mountain Dew bottle. (T. 378) Unless she went to the store with Oplander, Powell always took her backpack with her. (T. 378) As far as Mishoe knew, all of Powell's belongings were in the backpack. (T. 378)

Mishoe met Charles Freeman at Oplander's home at a party. (T. 374) Since then, Freeman visited Oplander's home maybe two or three times. (T. 374) Mishoe saw Freeman only twice. (T. 384)

Reverend Gardner testified that he knew Cynthia Powell since she was age sixteen but that he had not seen her during the last 1 1/2 to 2 years, except to visit her in jail after she was arrested in the instant case. (T. 394, 396-397) He knew some of her classmates who attended the same church, but he did not know her other acquaintances, co-workers, or friends. (T. 394-395) He had kept in touch with Powell's mother and stepfather since they moved to Rhode Island 1 1/2 years ago. (T. 396)

The jury acquitted Cross and convicted Powell. (T. 514-515) The trial court did not formally adjudicate Powell guilty. (T. 517-518)

Thereafter, Powell filed a motion to arrest the judgment because of the inconsistent verdicts. (R. 73-74) The trial court granted the motion stating:

- 17 -

I have a very sophisticated memorandum directed to the issue. It is not law of which I approve, but I have the duty to follow it. I think that it is wrong, it is wrong logically, because the courts permit convictions to stand if their trials are not conducted simultaneously, which makes no sense whatsoever, however, had the charging instrument in this case said, "and others," the conviction could have been sustained. In any event, judgment is arrested.

(T. 522) The trial court reduced its verbal order to writing and incorporated by reference a legal memorandum that was prepared by its law clerk. (R. 79-92)

The State appealed the order arresting judgment. (R. 95) It argued that the rule of consistency in verdicts was an unsound doctrine which should be abandoned. The First District "doubt[ed] the continued viability" of this doctrine, given that the federal law on which it was based had been overruled. It "reluctantly" affirmed the trial court's order with a certified question to this Court:

> DOES THE "RULE OF CONSISTENCY" EXCEPTION, AS IT RELATES TO A JURY VERDICT IN A SINGLE CASE AND TRIAL WHERE ALL BUT ONE OF THE CO-CONSPIRATORS ARE ACQUITTED, REMAIN VIABLE IN FLORIDA FOLLOWING THE DECISIONS IN <u>UNITED STATES V. POWELL</u>, 469 U.S. 57 (1984) AND <u>UNITED STATES V. ANDREWS</u>, 850 F.2D 1557 (11TH CIR. 1988), <u>CERT. DENIED</u>, 488 U.S. 1032 (1989), THE LATTER OF WHICH OVERRULED FEDERAL CASE LAW UPON WHICH THE FLORIDA EXCEPTION WAS ORIGINALLY BASED?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The answer to the certified question is a resounding "No." The acquittal of one conspirator should be legally irrelevant to the conviction of the other conspirator. Acquittals may result from factors unrelated to the defendant's guilt, such as compromise, lenity, or inadmissibility of evidence. Acquittals are not subject to review, nor are they susceptible to interpretation. No remedial procedures exist for correcting erroneous acquittals, the burden for which falls only on the government and its citizens. On the other hand, criminal defendants are afforded protection against jury irrationality or error by the independent review of the sufficiency of the evidence by both the trial and appellate courts.

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