IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 4 1945 CLERK S

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CYNTHIA L. POWELL,

Respondent.

MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

_/

CHRISTOPHER R. DEMETROS FLORIDA BAR NO. 863467 7952 NORMANDY BOULEVARD JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA 32221 (904) 781-8371 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

CASE NO. 86-561

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State offered no other evidence of any type, shape or form that there were other individuals involved in this conspiracy other than the two (2) named individuals in the second amended information. There must be an agreement between two or more individuals for a conviction of conspiracy. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that two or more persons in some way or manner came to an agreement to try to accomplish an unlawful plan as charged in the information. When Mr. Cross was acquitted by the jury, that left just one and only one person viable for the offense, which was the Respondent. There was not an individual or individual's name referred to in the case or in the information that the Respondent could have made an agreement with to commit The answer then to the certified question presented to murder. this Honorable Court is "Yes".

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED OUESTION

DOES THE "RULE OF CONSISTENCY" EXCEPTION, AS IT RELATES TO A JURY VERDICT IN A SINGLE CASE TRIAL WHERE ALL BUT ONE OF THE CO-AND CONSPIRATORS ARE ACQUITTED, REMAIN VIABLE IN FLORIDA FOLLOWING THE DECISIONS IN <u>UNITED</u> STATES V. POWELL, 469 U.S. 57 (1984) AND UNITED STATES V. ANDREWS, 850 F.2D 1557 (11TH CIR. 1988), <u>CERT</u>, <u>DENIED</u>, 488 U.S. 1032 (1989), THE LATTER OF WHICH OVERRULED FEDERAL CASE LAW UPON WHICH THE FLORIDA EXCEPTION WAS ORIGINALLY BASED?

The Rule of Consistency has been clear in the State of Florida regarding the crime of conspiracy where information filed by the State alleges that where a defendant and other individuals named as co-defendants were the sole perpetrators of the conspiracy and all but one of the co-conspirators were acquitted, then the remaining defendant must be acquitted, as well. Sparkman v. State, 528 So.2d 497 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988); Pierce v. State, 330 So.2d 783 (Fla. 1st DCA CERT. DENIED, 341 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1976); Filer v. State, 285 So.2d 669 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1973); and Cravero v. State, 334 So.2d 152 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976 CERT. DENIED, 342 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1977). The Florida cases simply follow the statutes and definitions of conspiracy in that conspiracy is an expressed or implied agreement between two or more people to conspire, combine or confederate with each other to commit a criminal offense. Florida Statutes §777.04(3). The conspiracy cannot be committed by a single individual acting alone, to do otherwise would be contrary to the definition of conspiracy as defined in the Florida Statutes.

The Respondent on September 27, 1993 was charged by the

- 4 -

information with the crime of conspiracy to commit murder contrary to the provisions of Florida Statutes §782.04 and Florida Statutes §777.04(3). In that information (R - 4) the State alleged in its initial information that the Respondent did agree, conspire, combine or confederate with another person or persons to commit murder. (underlined for emphasis) However, on March 17, 1994, the State filed its second amended information (R - 48) and in that third count of the second amended information, stated that Michael Lee Cross and the Respondent did agree, conspire, combine or confederate with each other to commit murder. (underlined for The State failed to add the key words "and others" in emphasis) its second amended information. Had the State placed those two key words in its second amended information, there would probably not be an appeal pending before this Court today. The key words "and others" are essential because of the definition of conspiracy as stated in the Florida Statutes §777.04(3), in that it takes two or more people to commit the crime of conspiracy. Mr. Michael Cross was an essential element of the crime of conspiracy in that two and only two people were named in the second amended information to have committed this crime. When the jury found Mr. Cross not guilty of the crime of conspiracy, that left the Respondent to act alone in committing this crime. The jury found the Respondent guilty of conspiracy, thus, defeating the definition of conspiracy as stated in the Florida Statutes. The State did not produce any other individuals or individual who could have conspired with the Respondent to commit murder.

- 5 -

The transcript is completely void of any indication that could be presented to the jury that other individuals were involved in this crime. There is no evidence or proof whatsoever that the Respondent conspired with anyone else other than Mr. Michael Cross. In <u>Stirone v. United States</u>, 361 U.S. 212 (1960), it was held that a conviction could not stand unless the defendant was convicted solely on the charge and the indictment. If this is true, then that raises the possibility of reversible error. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Peal</u>, 837 F.2d 975 (11th Cir. 1988).

The two cases that are the subject of this certified question, <u>Powell</u> and <u>Andrews</u>, must be disected in order to properly evaluate the certified question. In <u>Powell</u>, the case did not involve conspiracy. It was a case in which an individual was convicted of using a telephone to perpetrate a crime but was acquitted of the crime itself. As we are all well aware, a conspiracy is a very unusual crime in which it requires two or more people to act in concert to commit an unlawful act. However, in the <u>Powell</u> case, the felony committed does not require two or more people to act in agreement.

In the <u>Andrews</u> decision, it does involve the crime of conspiracy. In <u>Andrews</u>, there were two individuals who were tried jointly for the crime of conspiracy. The two individuals, Mr. Andrews and Mr. Ford, were tried together and Mr. Ford was found not guilty of the crime of conspiracy and Mr. Andrews was found guilty. What makes this case different from the one at bar is that in <u>Andrews</u>, the information, charging document was constructively

- 6 -

amended during the jury instructions in that it stated "Now a government agent such as a confidential source or police officer cannot be a co-conspirator in so much as he is working for the government. Accordingly, in order to find one or both of the defendants guilty of the crime of conspiracy, you must find that each of them conspired with someone other than a government agent." <u>United States v. Andrews</u>, 850 F.2d 5557 at 5559 (11th Cir. 1988). This constructive amendment allowed the jury to allow a conviction of conspiracy for Mr. Andrews with someone else other than Mr. Ford. In the case at bar involving the Respondent, no other individual or individuals were named in the information other than Mr. Cross and the Respondent.

In the decenting opinion that followed in the Andrews decision, Judge Clark brought out the case of Hartzel v. United States, 322 U.S. 680 (1944). In the Hartzel case, there were two defendants charged with the crime of conspiracy, however, one of the co-conspirators' conviction was set aside, thereby leaving the defendant, Hartzel, acting alone in commission of the crime of conspiracy. As was stated in the decenting opinion in United States v. Andrews, 850 F.2d 1557 at 1571 (11th Cir. 1988), "the Court held that it was impossible to sustain the Petitioner's conviction upon...the conspiracy count where the trial court had set aside the convictions of the defendant's only alleged coconspirators." The <u>Hartzel</u> decision is synonymous with the Respondent's case. In the Respondent's case, Mr. Cross was found not guilty by the jury, leaving the Respondent to act alone in

- 7 -

commission of the crime of conspiracy, which is an impossibility pursuant to the Florida Statutes and the Government Statutes, in the definition of conspiracy. In the <u>Hartzel</u> decision, one of the co-conspirator's conviction was set aside, which left the other coconspirator guilty of the crime of conspiracy. To find one individual guilty of a crime of conspiracy is contrary to its definition and contrary to the crime itself. One cannot act alone in commission of a crime that requires two individuals to act in concert to facilitate the unlawful act. To do so, is a great injustice allowing one defendant partiality and unequal treatment by the Court.

The certified question before us to be answered is yes if it regards crimes other than conspiracy. It makes common sense that one cannot commit a crime that requires two more people if one of the two is found not guilty. For cases that are inconsistent in the crimes of conspiracy, this problem is easily avoidable if the prosecutors would just add two words to their information or indictments and those words are to wit: AND OTHERS. If this was consistently done by the prosecutors then the conviction of one individual for the crime of conspiracy would be consistent.

- 8 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.